UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-30-2011

Estate of Holland v. Metropolitan Property and Cas. Ins. Co. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38157

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. Nature of the Case.

This case is about money, specifically attorney's fees. The case involves a settled dispute over under-insured motorist (UIM) coverage, with the issue of fees still in dispute. This case is about a family that lost its only son in a tragic accident and who were forced to file a lawsuit before their insurer made them an offer on disputed policies. This case is also about what an Idahoan must provide to an insurer in order to collect amounts justly due on an insurance policy.

b. Course of Proceedings.

On January 26, 2010, the Hollands filed a complaint against Metropolitan Property and Casualty Insurance Co. and MetLife Auto and Home (collectively "MetLife"). R., pp. 8-15 On February 9, 2010, the Hollands filed a motion for attorney's fees, memorandum, and affidavit of counsel.¹ R., pp. 16-41 On March 2, 2010, MetLife noticed its appearance and filed the parties' stipulated I.R.C.P. 41(a)(1) motion. R., pp. 42-44 On March 3, 2010, the court dismissed the underlying claims, with prejudice, based upon the parties' stipulated motion. R., pp. 45-48

On April 12, 2010, MetLife answered the Hollands' complaint. R., pp. 49-53 Thereafter, MetLife moved to enforce a February 3, 2010 agreement and dismiss the case. R., pp. 78-80

On June 2, 2010, oral argument was held on the parties' motions. Tr., p. 4, l. 1

¹ Hollands acknowledge the awkward procedural posture of the motion having been filed before MetLife's appearance in the case; however, would ask this Court to note the unique factual development of this case in that MetLife made an offer almost immediately after being sued, and this offer lead to the settlement of all underlying claims in the lawsuit. R., pp. 45-48; *see also* R., pp. 54-58 The Hollands would also ask the Court to note that they attempted to work with MetLife to resolve the fees issue short of court involvement and set the motion for hearing after they were told the issue could only be resolved by the court. R., pp. 63-63, ¶ 14; *see also* R., pp. 380-81

On July 20, 2010, the district court entered an opinion and order which enforced the agreement, denied the motion for attorney's fees, and dismissed the case. R., pp. 385-416 On August 2, 2010, the Hollands filed a motion for reconsideration. R., pp. 465-546 The court heard oral argument on the motion to reconsider on September 29, 2010. Tr., p. 44

On October 6, 2010, the court issued its opinion and order denying reconsideration and entered a final judgment in favor of MetLife. R., pp. 668-94 The court's decision was based upon three facts: 1) the Hollands' claims constituted a "moving target," 2) there was no case law cited to support the argument that the time frames under the policies could be aggregated, and finally 3) that it was MetLife or Paukert who came up with the coverage theory. R., p. 693

On October 12, 2010, the Hollands timely appealed. R., pp. 700-704

c. Statement of Facts.

On October 25, 2009, Benjamin Charles Holland ("Ben") tragically passed away due to a violent auto accident, when an under-insured motorist fell asleep at the wheel, left the road, and collided with a tree at a high rate of speed. R., p 10, \P 6, *see also* R., p. 158

On or about November 10, 2009, the Hollands, through their attorney Kinzo Mihara ("Mihara"), tendered notice of claim and proof of loss under Ben's UIM auto policy to MetLife. *Id.*, ¶¶ 9, 10, and 16; *see also* R., pp. 466-67, ¶ 7 The proof of loss was verbal, and Mihara provided MetLife a copy of the police report for the accident, which contained all of the accident's particulars. Tr., p. 76, l. 9-22; *see also* R. pp. 466-67, ¶ 7 This claim was issued claim number FRD 373130 (the "initial" claim). R., p. 91, ¶ 3 The same day, MetLife agent, Daneice

APPELLANTS' BRIEF - 2

「「ない」で

Davis, ("Davis") sent Mihara a letter which requested further "pertinent" information she needed to process the claim. *Id.*; *see also* R., pp. 148-49; *see also* R., p. 91, ¶ 3 On November 17th, 2009, Mihara provided documentation in response to Davis' request.

R., p. 133, ¶ 7; *see also* R, pp. 151-178 On December 1, 2009, Mihara supplemented his response with an Allstate letter tendering the limits of the tortfeasor's auto policy. R., pp. 180-88

On December 7, 2009, Davis and Mihara had a telephone conversation where Davis told Mihara that she believed the "initial" claim could be concluded with MetLife paying "policy limits." R., p. 91, ¶ 3 Mihara told Davis that the matter could not be concluded as the Hollands were making "additional" claims under other policies. *Id.* The other policies were Greg and Kathy Hollands' automobile policy and a motorcycle policy. R., p. 92, ¶ 6; *see also* R, p. 499; *see also* R., p. 220 The motorcycle policy covered Ben's motorcycle and listed him as the only driver. *Id.* Both policies had significantly higher UIM coverage limits than Ben's auto policy but which were also governed by MetLife policy MPL 6010-000, the same policy that governed the "initial claim." R., pp. 497-502 The two "additional" claims were assigned claim numbers FRD 408440 and FRD 408370. R., p. 92, ¶ 6 Ben was listed as a <u>household driver</u> for both policies, and again, was the motorcycle policy's <u>only</u> listed driver. R., p. 494

On January 8, 2010, Davis determined she could not affirm or deny coverage and retained Kathleen Paukert ("Paukert"), to provide a coverage opinion.² R., p. 92, ¶ 5 Importantly,

² MetLife may argue that there was agreement that Davis would not <u>begin</u> to review the "additional" claims until her return; however, the argument is <u>immaterial</u>, the argument has no impact on the timing of payment for the "initial" claim, nor does it explain why other MetLife personnel were working the claims in her absence. R., pp. 639-44 January 8th is a mere two days after Davis returned from vacation, and one day after Davis received Mihara's letter demanding a coverage decision. R., pp. 91-92, ¶¶¶ 4, 5, 6 The claim file entry of <u>December 9, 2009</u> states: "Daneice

Davis had enough documentation to send Paukert material for her to produce a coverage opinion for the "additional" claims. *Id.* As of January 8, 2010, MetLife requested no further information, documentation, or explanation of the loss or the claims.

On January 14, 2010, Paukert agreed that MetLife would make a coverage decision by January 22, 2010. R., p. 192 The same day, Mihara sent Paukert a 17 page memo via email that memorialized that he would not to take action against MetLife until after January 22, 2010, and which detailed several theories of coverage.³ R., p. 60, ¶ 5 The subject line of the email read: "<u>Holland v. MetLife</u> (Unfiled)."⁴ Mihara copied Davis via fax. *Id.* R., p. 211 The memo requested payment of undisputed amounts. R., p.192 Mihara requested payment of an hourly fee in consideration for agreeing not to take action against MetLife. R., pp. 190-91 Paukert quickly denied Mihara's fee request.⁵ R., p. 211

January 22, 2010 came and went without a coverage decision or payment for either the "initial" or "additional" claims. ⁶ R., p. 11, ¶¶ 7-8 Importantly, on January 22, 2010, Paukert requested <u>more time</u> in order to come to a coverage decision. R., p. 392 Mihara denied her

is ordering certified copies... and referring to defense counsel to review to assist in determining coverage" R., p. 510 The one month delay in referral to defense counsel is unexplained.

³ MetLife's claim file acknowledges that there could be coverage under at least one theory advocated by Mihara. R., p. 643 ("is a "resident relative" of the parents' policies by virtues of having some factors related to a residence...") In essence, Mihara's coverage analysis determined that because Ben was listed as a household driver, he was a resident of the Hollands' household and therefore entitled to coverage under one or both of the other two policies by virtue of being a "resident relative" – Ben was also a named insured under the motorcycle policy by virtue of being the lone driver named in the declarations, and by paying the policy's premiums. R., pp. 202-04; *see also* R., p. 206 MetLife has claimed privilege and withheld its theories. R., p. 636

⁴ The subject line of the emails Mihara sent to Paukert should clear any dispute as to what the Hollands' intentions were if no coverage answer were received by January 22, 2010.

⁵ "...I do not think Met has taken an unreasonable amount of time looking at this issue. Also, I have no idea why you think they would pay your attorney fees." R., p. 211

⁶ The foregoing is despite the fact that the Hollands had, in writing, asked for payments of amounts not in dispute on January 14, 2010. R., p. 192 ("please forward the amounts uncontested to my care at the address above...")

request. *Id.* On January 25, 2010, Paukert stated that it was her "final opinion" that the policies did not provide coverage. R., pp. 61-62, ¶ 8 It became apparent that the Hollands could soon become defendants in a declaratory judgment action. Tr., p. 23, l. 11-14; *see also* R., p. 118-19 Interestingly, MetLife, intentionally chose not to bring such an action. Tr., p. 23, l. 11-14

On January 26, 2010, the Hollands promptly filed suit. R., pp. 8-15 The Hollands claimed entitlement to statutory attorney's fees. *Id.* The Hollands made several averments of fact to support their entitlement. *Id.* On January 29, 2010, Davis, was told by another MetLife agent that MetLife had been sued. R., p. 92, ¶ 8 Davis requested Paukert check on this fact. *Id.* Paukert affirms that she did follow up, but that *her assistant* was unable to find the lawsuit. R., p. 98, ¶ 25 Neither Davis nor Paukert bothered to ask Mihara about the lawsuit. R., p. 399 Incredibly, on January 29, 2010, Paukert and MetLife realized that MetLife had UIM exposure under the motorcycle policy and Ben's auto policy.⁷ R., p. 517 The claim file states:

reviewed (sic) this matter once again. <u>I concur with DC Paukert</u> that we have a \$150k <u>new</u> UIM <u>exposure</u> under the mtorocyle (sic) file and am willing to tender it at this time. this (sic) is in addition to the \$50k <u>new</u> UIM <u>exposure</u> under Ben's own Auto policy. I do not believe there is any <u>coverage</u> under the parent's Auto policy, but if there was, the payout would still be capped to the higher limit and it would not create an additional <u>liability</u> for us.

Id. (emphasis added) On February 2, 2010, Paukert made Mihara the following offer via email:

This letter confirms <u>Met is offering your client the limits of the motorcycle</u> policy minus the offset. It is my understanding, the Motorcycle policy is \$250,000.00 and you received \$50,000.00 from the tortfeasor. Therefore, Mets offer is \$200,000.00. Obviously, we will require a full release.

⁷ C.f. "Were the Defendants in this matter seeking to settle with the Plaintiffs in response to the lawsuit, there might be an argument that attorney's fees are applicable." R., p. 363; see also Tr., p. 28, l. 14 to l. 18 Further, Paukert had finished her "coverage opinion" on January 27, 2010 – thus, the notice of suit on January 29, 2010 impacted MetLife's coverage opinion for new UIM exposure. R., p. 97, ¶4; see also R., p. 517; see also R., p. 636

R., pp.67-68 (emphasis added) The offer was for the two disputed "additional" claims. R., p. ¶¶ 26, 27 The offer was silent as to attorney's fees. R., pp. 67-68 The email did not attach a draft release or set forth whether the term "full release" envisioned release of any legal fees. *Id.* Upon receipt of the offer, Mihara made Paukert aware the Hollands had recently entered a fee agreement with him. R., p. 62, ¶ 9 Paukert admits that Mihara could have also advised her on February 2, 2010 that he had filed a lawsuit. R., p. 63, ¶ 12 Paukert did not thereafter set forth that her offer was inclusive of fees. The next day, on February 3, 2010, Mihara sent Paukert an acceptance: "Please let this letter confirm that my clients accept MetLife's offer of \$200,000. My clients will sign a full release of their claims against MetLife…" R., pp. 62-63, ¶ 11 The two attorneys <u>immediately</u> began to dispute whether the agreement was inclusive of fees. *Id.*, at ¶ 12; *see also* R., pp. R., p. 224-25 Despite the dispute, MetLife agreed to pay the \$200,000. R., p. 224

On February 9, 2010, MetLife issued two checks in the amounts of \$150,000 and \$50,000, for claims FRD 408370 (motorcycle policy) and FRD 370130 (Ben's auto policy), respectively. R., pp. 235-36 Each check contained a notation that the checks were for, "PAYMENT OF BENEFITS UNDER UNDERINSURED MOTORIST <u>COVERAGE</u> FOR LOSS OF 10-25-09." *Id.* (emphasis added) The same day, Mihara filed the Hollands' motion seeking attorney's fees, supported by a memorandum that incorporated his affidavit. R., pp. 16-41

On February 12, 2010, the two checks dated February 9, 2010 were delivered to Mihara along with a draft release. R., p. 230 MetLife retained another attorney, William Schroeder ("Schroeder"), for the defense of the lawsuit. R., pp. 238-58; *see also* R., pp. 376-77 While not in

agreement on each other's release language, Schroeder and Mihara quickly realized that the remaining issue could be that of fees. R., p. 258 On February 16, 2010, Schroeder asked that Mihara not disburse the checks until both attorneys had an opportunity to draft a "mutually-agreeable," "full release," which they were later able to do.⁸ R., p. 258; *see also* R., pp. 54-56

The release <u>expressly</u> reserved the issue of the Hollands' entitlement to attorney's fees. *Id.* Mihara continuously expressed interest in resolving the issue short of court involvement. R., p. 64, ¶ 15; *see also* R., pp. 227-28; *see also* R., pp. 238-39; *see also* R., pp. 376-77 In addition to recovering \$200,000 (\$150,000 on the motorcycle policy and \$50,000 on Ben's auto policy), the Hollands recovered a complete subrogation waiver from MetLife. R., pp. 54-56 On February 23, 2010, Schroeder authorized distribution of the checks once the release was signed. R., p. 241

On March 1, 2010, Schroeder entered an appearance. R., p. 243; *see also* R., pp. 42-43 On March 2, 2010, Schroeder filed the parties' Rule 41(a)(1)(ii) stipulated motion. *Id.* The stipulation was for dismissal with prejudice while reserving the issue of fees. *Id.*, at pp. 45-47 The stipulation was based upon the fact that, "...<u>the parties have fully resolved all claims in this</u> <u>matter except for the pending motion for attorney fees</u>. ...*" Id.* The court signed the stipulated order, and the clerk entered it the next day. *Id.* Mihara agreed to allow Schroeder until March 15, 2010 to conduct legal research.⁹ R., p. 243 On March 16, 2010, Schroeder advised Mihara that

⁸ At oral argument, Schroeder revealed that MetLife's true purpose in obtaining the release was to protect itself from potential liability for bad faith. Tr., p. 21, l. 7 to l. 23

⁹ It is important to note that Schroeder requested time to do research as the theory that fees were precluded by the earlier February 2 and 3, 2010 emails was not developed until <u>after</u> the parties' attorneys had jointly drafted and agreed upon a release and signed a joint motion and stipulated order. It is also important to note that the parties had resolved the issue of what the term "full release" meant through the negotiation and drafting of the settlement release attached to MetLife's answer. R., p. 258

the fee issue could only be resolved by the court. R., p. 381 On April 6, 2010, Mihara told Schroeder that he had waived all objections by not timely objecting. R., p. 384

Six days later, on April 12, 2010, MetLife filed its answer. R., pp. 49-58 The answer did not deny paragraphs 1 to 33 of the Hollands' complaint or even contain a general denial. *Id*. The parties' jointly negotiated and drafted release was attached to the answer. *Id*.

Oral argument was held on June 2, 2010. Tr., p. 3 Schroeder addressed I.R.C.P. 54, and despite having signed a Rule 41(a)(1)(ii) stipulation, he asserted that there had never been a judgment entered. Tr., p. 28, 1. 19 to p. 30, 1. 6

On July 20, 2010, the district court issued its initial memorandum decision and order. R., pp. 385-416 In essence, the court held that it would enforce the settlement agreement because, in its view, the Hollands provided "proof of loss," but failed to provide sufficient "proof of loss." R., p. 412 The Hollands moved the court to reconsider. R, pp. 465-546 The Hollands asked the court to rule on their Rule 54 argument.¹⁰ R., p. 538; *see also* R., p. 611

In the memorandum and affidavit in support of their motion for the court to reconsider, the Hollands pointed out the voluminous amount of information they provided to MetLife in support of their claims. *Id.* The Hollands also provided the declarations pages of the policies and a copy of the policy terms that governed all the claims made. R., pp. 469-502

On October 6, 2010, the district court issued its memorandum decision and order denying reconsideration. R., pp. 668-94 The court held that its decision was discretionary. R., p. 674 Based on the information provided, the court retreated from its initial ruling and held that this

¹⁰ The court intentionally did not rule on the argument before it. R., p. 689

was not a "proof of loss" case, but was now a "coverage" case, and the Hollands could not recover because the coverage theory had been created by MetLife or Paukert. R., pp. 676-683 The Hollands timely appealed. R., pp. 700-704

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

(a) Did the district court err when it held that the Hollands had failed to prove entitlement to attorney's fees pursuant to I.C. 41-1839(1) and/or (2)?

(b) Did the district court err by granting MetLife's motion to enforce the settlement agreement?

(c) Did the district court err when it held that MetLife had not waived objection to the Hollands' claim to attorney's fees pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(e)(6)?

(d) Did the district court err when it denied the Hollands summary judgment and held that the factual allegations set forth in the complaint were not admitted pursuant to I.R.C.P. 8(d)?

(e) Whether the Hollands are entitled to attorney's fees pursuant to I.C. § 41-1839(1) and/or (2) and the I.A.R. for this appeal?

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Interpreting an attorney-fee statute and whether it applies to the facts of a specific case are issues of law that an appellate court freely reviews. *Martin v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 138 Idaho 244, 246, 61 P.3d 601, 603 (2002) In construing a statute, a court may examine the language used, the reasonableness of proposed interpretations, and the policy behind it. *Id.* On appeal, a reviewing court is not bound by legal conclusions of a lower court and is free to draw its own conclusions from the facts presented. *Mutual of Enumclaw v. Box*, 127 Idaho 851, 852, 908 P.2d 153, 154 (1995)

Interpretation of a contract, and whether a contract is ambiguous is also an issue of law.

Cannon v. Perry, 144 Idaho 728, 731, 170 P.3d 393, 396 (2007)

Likewise, the question of compliance with the rules of procedure is one of law. *Harney v. Weatherby*, 116 Idaho 904, 906-07, 781 P.2d 241, 243-44 (Ct.App.1989)

Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no dispute of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. I.R.C.P. 56(c); see also *Callies v. O'Neal*, 147 Idaho 841, 216 P.3d 130 (2009) A mere scintilla of evidence or slight doubt of the facts is not sufficient to create an issue. *Id.* In an appeal from a summary judgment decision, the appellate standard of review is the same standard used by the lower court. *Id.* In any case which will be tried to the court, a trial judge is not constrained to draw inferences in favor of the party opposing a motion for summary judgment, but instead, can arrive at the most probable inferences to be drawn from uncontroverted evidentiary facts. *Lawrence v. Hutchinson*, 146 Idaho 892, 897, 204 P.3d 532, 537 (Ct. App. 2009) An appeals court freely reviews inferences drawn by a lower court to determine whether the record reasonably supports those inferences. *Id.* If the evidence reveals no disputes of material fact, what remains is a question of law. *Cordova v. Bonneville Co. Joint Sch. Dis. No. 93*, 144 Idaho 637, 639, 167 P.3d 774, 776 (2007) An appellate court freely reviews a lower court's resolution of whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether a party was entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Callies*, supra, 216 P.3d at 135 If undisputed facts exist that lead to disposition as a matter of law, summary judgment is appropriate. *Id.*

Mere denials unaccompanied by admissible facts, and affidavits of counsel based upon hearsay rather than upon personal knowledge, are insufficient to raise genuine issues of material fact. *Camp v. Jiminez*, 107 Idaho 878, 882, 693 P.2d 1080, 1084 (Ct. App. 1984)

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