Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-28-2011

Estate of Holland v. Metropolitan Property and Cas. Ins. Co. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38157

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

policies held by Gregory and Kathleen Holland were thereafter assigned Claim Numbers FRD 408440 and 408370 [the Additional Claims/Parents' Policies] and not contemplated within the initial \$50,000.00 offer." (R. Vol. III, p. 545)

The Hollands claim that they prevailed under I.C. § 41-1839 because, prior to the lawsuit, MetLife offered the Hollands \$50,000.00 on the Initial Claim, that amount was not paid, and later all of the Hollands' claims were settled for \$200,000.00. (Appellants' Opening Brief, at 25) However, the trial court concluded that, even if the disputed issues of fact were construed in the Hollands' favor, the "Hollands face a daunting task trying to prove Hollands prevailed within the meaning of I.C. § 41-1839 and Parsons where 1) there was no initial refusal by MetLife to pay, and 2) were MetLife was not served with a Summons and Complaint in this matter at the time their offer was tendered, and arguably had no knowledge at all of Hollands' lawsuit at the time their offer was tendered." (R. Vol. II, pp. 331-332) Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that issues of fact remain as to MetLife's knowledge of the lawsuit and the facts surrounding the reasonableness MetLife's failure to pay on the Initial Claim, precluding a determination that the Hollands "prevailed" within the meaning of I.C. § 41-1839. See, e.g., Zimmerman, 128 Idaho at 857; Parsons, 143 Idaho at 746. Likewise, as noted by the trial court, "these are separate offers made at separate times on separate policies." (R. Vol. II, p. 351)

D. The Trial Court Correctly Granted MetLife's Motion to Enforce the Settlement, on the Grounds that Hollands Failed to Meet their Burden of Proving they Provided MetLife with Sufficient Proof of Loss, as Required in Greenough, Brinkman, and I.C. § 41-1839.

On April 28, 2010, MetLife filed a Motion Compel Performance Under the Settlement and Dismiss Plaintiffs' Motion for Attorney's Fees, seeking enforcement of the settlement entered

into by the parties on February 3, 2010, and dismissal of the Hollands' Motion for Attorney's Fees. (R. Vol. I, pp. 061-062) As noted by the trial court, the main issue of contention between the parties was whether attorney's fees were covered in the settlement. (R. Vol. II, p. 343) The trial court found that, based on Straub v. Smith, 145 Idaho 65, 175 P.3d 754 (2007), there is a presumption that where the agreement is silent on attorney's fees, they are outside the agreement. Thus, the trial court did not grant MetLife's Motion to Compel Performance Under the Settlement based on MetLife's argument that attorney's fees were contemplated within the settlement agreement, under either a contract or waiver theory. (R. Vol. II, p. 346)

However, the trial court, after recognizing the foregoing issues of disputed fact did not provide grounds to enforce the settlement agreement, determined that MetLife's Motion to Compel Performance Under the Settlement Agreement must be granted on the grounds that the Hollands' failed to meet their burden of proving they provided MetLife with sufficient proof of loss to allow MetLife "a reasonable opportunity to investigate and determine its liability," as required by Greenough, Brinkman, and I.C. § 41-1839, as the foregoing issues of fact are not germane to that analysis. (R. Vol. II, pp. 348-352; R. Vol. III, p. 550)

As the trial court noted in its ruling, and as discussed in depth in Section A(2) above, the following three (3) reasons alone demonstrate that the Hollands' failed to meet their burden in Greenough, Brinkman, and I.C. § 41-1839:

(1) MetLife was subject to a moving target with separate offers made at separate times on separate policies. Specifically, that MetLife was prepared to pay the policy limits on the Initial Claim. Upon being informed of the same, Mr. Mihara told MetLife that the Hollands were making Additional Claims. The Additional Claims were assigned separate claim numbers from the Initial Claim. The Additional Claims were not

contemplated within the tender offer on the Initial Claim. Upon being informed of the Additional Claims, Ms. Davis told Mr. Mihara she was going on a three-week vacation and would not return until January 6, 2010, at which time she would review the Additional Claims. Mr. Mihara informed Ms. Davis that the delay was acceptable. On January 8, 2010, MetLife retained Ms. Paukert to provide a coverage opinion on the Additional Claims. From January 13, 2010, through February 2, 2010, Ms. Paukert had regular contact with Mr. Mihara to discuss potential theories of coverage for the Additional Claims. (R. Vol. II, pp. 350-351)

- The Hollands have provided no law supporting their argument that "time periods on these separate offers made at separate times on separate policies should be aggregated." The trial court found that there was no case law supporting the argument that the period from November 10, 2009 to December 7, 2009 can be added to the period from January 7, 2010 to January 26, 2010, in order to meet the thirty (30) day tender requirement after proof of loss is provided. As the Court recognized, "[d]ue to the fact that these are separate offers made at separate times on separate policies, there certainly is no factual basis to aggregate these two discrete time periods." (R. Vol. II, p. 351)
- (3) It is difficult for the Hollands to argue that MetLife was provided "a reasonable opportunity to investigate and determine its liability," where the theory providing the larger tender to the Hollands was discovered by Ms. Paukert, and the Hollands accepted that higher amount based on Ms. Paukert's theory. (R. Vol. I, p. 351)

The trial court held that these three reasons alone provide a basis for the trial court's determination that the Hollands failed to meet their burden of proving they provided MetLife with sufficient proof of loss." In doing so, the trial court noted that questions of fact remain as to whether MetLife had knowledge of the lawsuit and whether the emails amounted to an enforceable contract. (R. Vol. II, pp. 347-348) Ultimately, the trial court correctly granted MetLife's Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement, determining that the Hollands failed to meet their burden of proving they provided MetLife with sufficient proof of loss to allow

MetLife "a reasonable opportunity to investigate and determine its liability," as required in Greenough, Brinkman, and I.C. § 41-1839. 10 (R. Vol. II, pp. 348-352; R. Vol. III, p. 550)

E. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that Idaho Civil Rule 54 Applies to Post-Judgment Issues and is Inapplicable to this Matter.

On February 9, 2010, the Hollands' filed their Motion for Attorney's Fees pursuant to I.C. § 41-1839. (R. Vol. I, pp. 014-015, 046-047) Thereafter, the Hollands' counsel, Mr. Mihara, represented that the hearing on that Motion would be scheduled for a date convenient to both counsel, as evidenced by counsels' correspondence from the dates February 12, February 22, February 25, March 16 and March 17, 2010. (R. Supp., pp. 088-096) On March 26, 2010, the Hollands noted their Motion for Attorney's Fees for an evidentiary hearing scheduled for May 12, 2010, as that fit both counsel's schedule. (R. Supp., pp. 089, 097-098) The parties then proceeded with discovery.

Despite these prior representations, on April 6, 2010, the Hollands' counsel took a disappointing stance, advising Mr. Schroeder of his new position that, under Idaho Civil Rule 54(e)(6), a response to the Hollands' Motion for Attorney's Fees was past due, and thus, waived.

The Hollands' argument fails to address the trial court's reasoning in granting MetLife's Motion to Compel Performance Under the Settlement and Dismiss Plaintiffs' Motion for Attorney's Fees, on the grounds that the Hollands failed to meet their burden of proving they provided MetLife with sufficient proof of loss to allow MetLife "a reasonable opportunity to investigate and determine its liability," as required by <u>Greenough</u>, <u>Brinkman</u>, and I.C. § 41-1839. Instead, the Hollands side-step the trial court's reasoning, arguing simply, that attorney's fees were not contemplated within the scope of the parties' agreement, focusing on the disputed issues of fact, that the trial court dismissed as not relevant to its analysis. (Appellants' Opening Brief, at 26-30; R. Vol. II, pp. 348-352) Thus, the Hollands' argument is without merit, and does not impact the trial court's reasoning.

In response, on April 12, 2010, Mr. Schroeder sent an e-mail to Mr. Mihara – stating in pertinent part: "Putting to one side the fact that I.R.C.P. 54 is inapplicable since a judgment has not been entered, your new position is inconsistent with the request in your motion, your numerous written and oral representations to me, your Notice of Hearing, and the discovery request you served." (R. Supp., pp. 089, 099)

On May 17, 2010,¹¹ in their Reply on their Motion for Attorney's Fees, the Hollands argued for the first time that:

"Defendants have waived any and all objections to Plaintiffs' entitlement to attorney's fees along with the amount claimed by failing to timely object." Plaintiffs would note that I.R.C.P. 54(e)(6) requires any objection to the allowance of attorney's fees to be made within 14 days. I.R.C.P. 54(e)(6).

(R. Vol. II, pp. 276-278) Likewise, the Hollands' argue that "MetLife's answer came after 14 days from when the Hollands' motion seeking statutory attorneys' fees became at issue, MetLife waived all objections thereto." (Appellants' Opening Brief, at 30-31)

As noted by the trial court, Mr. Mihara essentially "sandbagged" MetLife by raising this argument for the first time in the Hollands' Reply brief. (R. Vol. III, p. 559)

The Hollands cite the <u>Crowley v. Lafayette Life Ins. Co.</u>, 106 Idaho 818, 823, 683 P.2d 854 (1984) case for the proposition that Idaho Civil Rule 54 applies pre-judgment as well as post-judgment. (Appellants' Opening Brief, at p. 30) However, as noted by the trial court, a "cursory reading of <u>Crowley</u>" demonstrates that such claim is unsubstantiated. In that regard, and as further noted by the trial court, the Hollands' cannot even cite to the section in <u>Crowley</u> that stands for that proposition that Idaho Civil Rule 54 applies pre-judgment. (R. Vol. III, p. 561) Likewise, the Hollands' argument that the parties March 3, 2010 "Joint Motion and Stipulated Order to Dismiss All Claims Except for the Pending Motion for Attorney Fees" acts as a final judgment under Idaho Civil Rule 41(a)(1), is also without merit. (Appellants' Opening Brief, at pp. 30-31) Simply stated, the Motion for Attorneys Fees, *i.e.*, the basis for the Hollands' argument under Idaho Civil Rule 54, was not dismissed under that Order and remained pending. (R. Vol. I, pp. 028-030)

Even putting aside Mr. Mihara's inconsistent representations, Idaho Civil Rule 54 is inapplicable. To wit—instead of filing and serving on MetLife a "memorandum of costs," the Hollands' noted their Motion for Attorney's Fees for an evidentiary hearing, reserving the right to introduce evidence and/or call witnesses. These actions triggered MetLife's responsive briefing schedule. I.R.C.P. § 7(b)(3). The Hollands' actions are not contemplated by Idaho Civil Rule 54 – namely, they Hollands noted their motion for hearing (rather than submitting a cost memorandum), reserved the right to introduce evidence and/or call witnesses (rather than submitting a cost memorandum and permitting the opposing party to object), and triggered responsive briefing (rather than submitting a cost memorandum and permitting the opposing party to object within 14 days). In sum, the Hollands' actions are inconsistent with the Idaho Civil Rule 54 – essentially, because such Rule is inapplicable to the case at hand. Therefore, the Hollands' argument under Idaho Civil Rule 54 fails.

Moreover, Idaho Civil Rule 54 applies to post-judgment issues; consequently, such rule is inapplicable here because no judgment has been entered. Idaho Civil Rule 54(e)(6), "Objection to Attorney Fees," and cited by the Hollands, states, in pertinent part that:

Any objection to the allowance of attorney fees, or to the amount thereof, shall be made in the same manner as an objection to costs as provided by Rule 54(d)(6).

Idaho Civil Rule 54(d)(6), "Objection to Costs," states in relevant part:

A party may object to the claimed costs of another party set forth in a memorandum of costs by filing and serving on the adverse parties a motion to disallow part or all of such costs within fourteen (14) days of service of the memorandum of cost.

Idaho Rule 54(d)(5), "Memorandum of Costs," states:

At any time after the verdict of a jury or a decision of the court, any party who claims costs may file and serve on adverse parties a <u>memorandum of costs</u>, itemizing each claimed expense, but such memorandum of costs may not be filed later than fourteen (14) days after entry of judgment.

Thus, Idaho Civil Rule 54 is inapplicable where no judgment has been entered, as was the case here at that time. Along these lines, in each case cited by the Hollands there was a judgment. A Judgment in this matter was not entered until October 6, 2010, after the Hollands' Motion for Attorney's Fees and corresponding Reconsideration was ruled on by the trial court. (R. Vol. III, pp. 565-567) Moreover, as noted by the trial court, each case cited by the Hollands discusses attorney's fees after the case had been resolved, not a claim for attorney's fees at the inception of the case. (R. Vol. III, pp. 559-560)

In sum, Idaho Civil Rule 54 applies to post-judgment issues and is inapplicable to the case at hand. As noted by the trial court, "[t]here is nothing in I.R.C.P. 54 or 55 that deals with attorney fees prior to judgment," as sought by the Hollands and appealed herein. (R. Vol. III, p.

See e.g., Conner v. Dake, 103 Idaho 761, 761, 653 P.2d 1173 (1982) ("In the proceedings below, Judgment was entered against the appellants . . . "); Fearless Farris Wholesale v. Howell, 105 Idaho 699, 701, 672 P.2d 577 (1983) ("The trial court entered judgment in favor of Fearless Farris"); Farber v. Howell, 111 Idaho 132, 136, 721 P.2d 731 (1986) ("Thus, the Howells had ten days (now fourteen days) following such service to object to the costs and attorney fees awarded in the judgment"); Great Plains Equip. v. N.W. Pipeline, 132 Idaho 754, 759, 979 P.2d 627 (1999) ("The collective amount of the final judgment . . . "); Crowley, 106 Idaho at 823 ("Thereafter . . . the trial court filed its Memorandum Decision and Judgment"); Operating Eng. Local Union 370 v. Goodwin, 104 Idaho 83, 84, 656 P.2d 144 (1982) ("The judgment, entered the same date as the order . . ."); Ada County High. Dist. v. Acarrequi, 105 Idaho 873, 673 P.2d 1067 (1983) ("This is an appeal from only that portion of a judgment awarding attorneys' fees and costs . . ."); Camp v. Jiminez, 107 Idaho 878, 693 P.2d 1080 (1984) ("The district court entered a summary judgment . . . ").

561) To that end, the trial court correctly ruled that the Hollands' timeliness argument under Idaho Civil Rule 54 is "completely without merit." (R. Vol. III, p. 562)

F. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that the Parties' Stipulated Order to Dismiss Precludes Summary Judgment.

1. The Appellate Court Applies the Standard of Review Applied by the Trial Court.

When faced with an appeal from summary judgment, the appellate court employs the standard of review properly applied by the trial court when originally ruling on the motion. Farm Credit Bank of Spokane v. Stevenson, 125 Idaho 270, 272, 869 P.2d 1365 (1994). On review, as when the summary judgment is initially considered by the trial court, the appellate court liberally construes the record in the light most favorable to the party opposing the summary judgment motion, drawing all reasonable inferences and conclusions in that party's favor. Ibid. If a party moves from summary judgment on the basis that no genuine issue of material fact exists with regard to an element or elements in the non-moving party's case, the non-moving party must prove the existence of an issue of fact regarding that element or elements. Ibid., at 272-73.

"The burden of establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact rests at all times with the party moving for summary judgment." Smith v. Meridian Joint School Dist. No. 2, 128 Idaho 714, 719, 918 P.2d 583 (1996), citing, I.R.C.P 56(c); Tingley v. Harrison, 125 Idaho 86, 89, 867 P.2d 960 (1994). "If the record contains any conflicting inferences upon which reasonable minds might reach different conclusions, summary judgment must be denied." Harris v. Dep't of Health & Welfare, 123 Idaho 295, 298, 847 P.2d 1156 (1992). The appellate court

can affirm the denial of a summary judgment on alternative grounds if one of the grounds relied upon by the trial court was in error. <u>MacLeod v. Reed</u>, 126 Idaho 669, 671, 889 P.2d 103 (1995).

2. The Trial Court Properly Denied Summary Judgment.

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